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L COMPLAINT
Plaintiffs, Allstate Insurance Company, Allstate Indemnity Company, and
Allstate Property & Casualty Insurance Company (hereinafter collectively referred to as
“Allstate” and/or “Plaintiff”) by their attorneys, The Law Offices of Robert P. Macchia'&
Associates, allege as follows:

II.. NATURE OF THE ACTION

\

1. This lawsuit involves an individual by the name of Hisham Elzanaty
(“Elzanaty”) who, along with other individuals and entities, used the New York State
Comprehensive Motor Vehicle Insurance Reparations Act (N.Y. RNDAW §5101, et seq.)
and the regulations promulgated pursuant thereto (11 N.YQ@&S, et seq.) (hereinafter
collectively referred to as “the No-Fault Laws”) to %Cm;te an ongoing scheme to
defraﬁd Plaintiff of millions of dollars. In order. @nceal and accomplish his complex
schemé to defraud Plaintiff, Elzanag&ized various people, methods, and
instrumentalities. Some of the pe@e unknowing puppets being manipulated by
Elzanaty, however, many were’&scing participants. Furthermore, Elzanaty violated
and manipulated variou%x s, rules, and regulations of the State of New York in
furtherance of his defraud Plaintiff.

2. The fundamental method by which Elématy and h.is cohorts were able to
defraud Plaintiff, while remaining undetected for years was to fraudulently incorporate
medical professional corporations, which were then used as vessels to bill Plaintiff under
the No-Fault Laws for medical services rendered to patients involved in motor vehicle

accidents. In order to accomplish his ultimate goal of defrauding Plaintiff,. Elzanaty

conspired with a licensed medical doctor, Jadwiga Pawlowski, M.D. (“Pawlowski™), to

2
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fraudtﬂenﬂy incorporate four (4) proféssional service corporations - J.P. Mediéal, P.C,
Accurate Medical, P.C., Nolia Medical, P.C., and Quality Medical Healthcare Provider,
P.C‘. (hereinafter @:ollectively referred to as the “Pawlowski PCs™). The billg generated by
the Pawlowski PCs were paid by Plaintiff and initially deposited into the bank accounis of
these seemingly legitimate medical professional corporations. After this ir;itial deposit,
however, the lion’s share of the revenues were siphoned to a management company owned
and controlled by Elzanaty. Elzanaty also used another doctor’s identity in order to
fraudulently incorporate a fifth-medical professional corporation = CAN Medical, P.C. -
which Elzanaty ultimately controlled (the P‘awlowski PCs @@with CAN Medical,
P.C. shall be referred to hereinafter as the “PC Defeﬁngaa. The PC Defendants were
utilized by Elzanaty in order to defraud Plaintiff t%% the commission of a billing fraud
scheme in violation of State and Federal % Each of thé individuals and entities

_referenced in this paragraph conspire@ one another to accomplish'and/or further the

objectives of the scheme detai]e@m.

3. Elzanaty di:’ﬁgﬁmit his scheme to defraud by simply utilizing the PC
Defendants as is tyI&@

to defraud Pl@ with the assistance of a cOrporaté entity he had formed — Uptown

o-Fault rings of this nature. Rather, he increased his capacity

Health Care Management, Inc. (“Uptown”). In addition to aéting as the management
company, mentioned above in Paragraph 2, through which Elzanaty illegally siphoned the
proceeds from the Péwlowskj PCs, Uptown served as the corporate veil behind which
Elzanaty pemeﬁated the other aspects of hjs>multi-million dollar enterprise of fraud.

4.. Under the auspices of this corporate entity, Elzanaty established three

medical facilities, pursuant to Article 28 of the New York Public Health Law — East
: ;-
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Tremont Medical Center, New York Neuro & Rehab Center, and Jerome Family Health
Center (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Article 28 Entities”). Using Uptown as
the nerve center for his scheme, (a) Elzanaty exercised complete domination of Uptown

with respect to the fraudulent activity and transactions with Plaintiff, and (b) Elzanaty used

his domination to commit his scheme to defraud Plaintiff thefeby injuring Plaintiff.
Specifically, Uptown was utilized in the following manner:

i) Millions of dollars were transferred from the bank accounts of the
“Pawlowski PCs into Uptown’s bank accounts, allowing Elzanaty to
benefit financially from the proceeds of the Pawlgyski PCs, in direct
violation of New York law; &

ii) patients were systematically circulated b@ the fraudulently
incorporated PC Defendants and the’%ifc’ 8 Entities, while

their common ownership was conc rom Plaintiff, and in all
likelihood, from the treating patj 3

ii1) Uptown was used to recm&suspecting doctor to
‘fraudulently incorporat orementioned, CAN Medical, P.C.,
which was then used aud Plaintiff;

1v) Uptown acted %ase of operations from where Elzanaty’s
employees nt to facilities throughout New York, which were
paid ille acks in exchange for providing patients
to tre Article 28 Entities, and for which Uptown ultimately
bil intaft: '

V) zanaty operated the Article 28 Entities in violation of New York
ublic Health Law, in that the medical director was not licensed to
practice medicine in the State of New York;

vi) at least one of the Article 28 Entities violated its site-specific
Operating Certificate by sending its employees to facilities
throughout New York to examine and/or treat patients; and

vii) Uptbwn routinely submitted intentionally inflated bills for
treatment from at least one of the Article 28 Entities, in order to
induce Plaintiff to overpay for medical services.
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5. This action seeks actual damages of $2,969,857.43 representing No-FauIt
" insurance payménts that were impropefly obtained from f’laintiff through fraudulently

incorporated medical professional service corporations that were, at all relevant times,
owned and controlled by a non-licensed ia&person.

6. Additionally, this action seeks actual damages of $2,107,420.11,
representing No-Fault insurance payments that were improperly obtained from Plaintiff as
a result of the continuous fraudulent activity perpetrated by Elzanaty, and 'consequently
Uptown, in the operation and.management of the Article 28 Entitieg, andC ealings with
Plaintiff. Said damages are also owed to Plaintiff, as a resultc anaty’s material, A
intentional, and ongoing misrepresentations in connec" with obtaining 4and/or
maintaining the Article 28 status of the Article 28 Entj '@wreby rendering said entities
ineligible to collect payment via New York State&@ault Laws. -

7. "fhe defendants submitted or@ to be submitted, via the United States
Mail, hundreds of bills for medical tr t purportedly rendered to persons eligible for
insurance coverage under Plaint Aiurance policies.
| 8. By this ple laintiff brings claims égainst the Defendants, seeking
money damages for 1olations of the Fedéral Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt
Organizations (“RICO”) Act, 18 U.S.C. §1962(c)-(d), (ii) common law fraud, (iii) unjust
enrichment, and (iv) unfair and deceptive business practices in violation of New York
General Business Law §349, as well as claims against the defendants se§king declaratory
religﬁ pursuant to the Federal Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§2201 and 2262.

9. Plaintiff seeks a declaration that the PC Defendants dg not currently, nor

ever did have, a right to receive payment for any unpaid No-Fault bills whereas: (i) the PC
. s
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Defendants were fraudulently incorporated, and therefore ine]ig'ible. to seek or recover No-
Fault benefits; (ii) the PC Defendants engagéd in unlawful fee-splitfing with ﬁon—(licensed
laypersons; (iii) dogumentation was knowingly and intentionally submitted by, or on behalf
of, aﬁd with the knowl‘edge of, the PC Defenciants fepresentmg that they were owned and
operated in accordance with New York law when, in fact, Ehey were each fraudulently
incorporated and thus. iheligible to receive No-Fault benefit payments; and (iv) the PC
Defendants were utilized to engage in a pervasive pattern, and practice of submitting false
medical documentation through the United States Mail démandiﬁg pay'n@)m Plaintiff.
10.  Plaintiff seeks a declaration that, as a result o@ fraudulent activity

endorsed and committed by Elzanaty and Uptown, the AI@\Z‘S Entities be precluded
either from directly billing Plaintiff or billing Plaint'f@ ptown, for any and all future
No-Fault benefits whereas: (i) Elzanaty, indjv and through Uptown,_ coordinated:
\J;'ith the PC Defendants to execute b# @me to défraud Plaintiff through the PC
Defendants; (ii) Elzanaty, individ@nd through Uptown, engaged in a variety of
fraudulent and/or illegal pr%ﬂpeciﬁczﬂly designed to cause the Plaintiff to render
payment for No-Fault@@ﬁii) Elzanaty, individually -and through Uptown, violated the
'applicable statutes, rulesy and regulations required of him in obtaining and/or maintaining
Article 28 status for the Article 28 bEnti'ties— thereby rendering said entities ineligible to
receive payments, in connection with No-Fault billing; and (iv) Elzanaty, individually and
through Uptown, siphoned millions of dollars of the proceeds from the Pawlov;ski PCs for
his financial benefit in violation of New York State_ law. |

| 11.  All of the'acts and omissions of the defendants described th_roughout this

Complaint were undertaken intentionally. The defendants’ insurance fraud scheme was

6
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designed to and did, in fact, result in the payment of No-Fault benefits, from Plaintiff to
defendants in connection with éutomobi]e insurance contracts.

lé. In connection with each ‘allegation d_etailed throughout this Complaint, an
Allstate automobile insurance contract was the platform upon which defendants
perpetrated their scheme to defraud Plaintiff.

13. - The defendants knew that the patients identified in this Complaint, and/or

the exhibits annexed hereto, were eligible for No-Fault insurance coverage pursuant to

automobile insurance policies issued by Plaintiff. :
III. PARTIES O®

A Plaintiff ° \
*
14.  Allstate Insurance Company, Allstate&mity Company, and Allstate

Property & Casualty Insurance Company are w@wned subsidiaries of The Allstate
Corporation, an entity ofganized to exist é\;@and by virtue of the laws of the State of

Ilinois. %

. . :
15.  Allstate Insu pany, Allstate Indemnity Company, and Allstate

Property & Casualty Cc@ maintain their principal places of business in Northbrook,

Illinois. O

16.  Allstate Insurance Company, Allstate Indemnity Company, and Allstate
Property & Casualty Company are authorized to conduct business and to issue policies of

automobile insurance in the State of New York.

B. - Corp;)rate Defendant
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17. Uptown Health Care Management, Inc. d’b/a East Tremont Medical Center,
New York Neuro & Rehab Center, and Jerome Family Health Center (“Uptown™) is a New
York domestic corporatlon with its pnncxpal place of business in the State of New York.
Eac}l of the three “assumed” or “doing business as” names represent a separate medical
facility, which billed Plaintiff for medical services rendered, in connection with the No-
Fault Laws. East Tremont Medicél Center (“ETMC”) has offices and treats patients out of
a building located at 930 East Tremont Avenue, Bronx, New York. New York Neuro &
Rehab Center (“NY Neuro’;) has an office and treats patients out of a bliilding located at

4470 Broadway, New York, New York 10040. Jerome Family enter (“Jerome™)

has offices and treats patients out of a building located Werome Avenue, Bronx,

New York 10453, _ <
9

18. At all relevant times, Upto ’@rate\ headquarters were located at
either the 930 East Tremont Avenue add che 4470 Broadway address. As detailed

throughout this Complaint, Elzanaté@ldually and through his-ownership of Uptown

stant violation of the stringent regulations set forth in

Art § of the New York Public Health Law, Title 10 of the

1 atlon of Codes, Rules and Regulations of the State of New

Q)r , and any and all other applicable statues, rules, and/or
gulations governing Article 28 Entities;

(1)  was involved in a highly developéd and sophisticated kickback
scheme with medical facilities throughout New York;

(iit) recrulted at least one other doctor. whose name was used to
fraudulently incorporate a medical professional corporation;

(iv)  utilized Uptown and theArticle 28 Entities to maximize his ability
to fraudulently bill Plaintiff via the PC Defendants; and :
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(9) utilized Uptown’s bank accounts to illegally siphori monéy from the
Pawlowski PCs for his financial gain in violation of New York State
law.

C. Individual Defendants

19.  Defendant, Hisham Elzanaty (“Elzanaty™), resides in and is a citizen of the
State of New York, and is not curreﬁtly, nor has ever been, a duly licensed medical
professional. Nonetheless, at all relevant times, he illegally owned and controlled the PC
Defendants and illegally diverted revenues generated by these five (5) medical professional
corporations, through billing submitted to Plaintiff for healfhcare services. I relevant
times, Elzailaty was also the owner of Uptown, the oi)erator of the Arti Entities, and

the mastermind behind the implementation of the web of fraud\diﬂsgd throughout this

Complaint. 66
20. Défeﬂdant, Jadwiga Pawlowski, M. @w]owski”), resides in and is a
citizen of the State of New York. At all r v@lmes, Pawlowski has been licensed by
and practiced medicine in the State of I‘@ ork. Pawlowski faIsely purported to own,
control, and practice medicine the Pawlowski PCs. In fact, Pawlowski did not
provide or supervise the s %purporte'dly rendered by the Pawlowski PCs, and never
Qontrol over them. Rather, in il‘iolatiovn of New York law,

had any actual ownership

Pawlowski permitted individuals who lacked a medical license to organize, operate, and

( .
control the Pawlowski PCs. Furthermore, Pawlowski was appointed as the medical

director for at least one of the Article 28 Entities, in order for it to appear to be in

compliance with 10 N.Y.C.R.R.'§751.4. In reality, however, Pawlowski was merely a



Case 2:11-cv-03862-ADS-ARL Document 1 Filed 08/11/11 Page 10 of 50 PagelD #: 10

figurehead who was used by Elzanaty, but had no active role as the medical director for

any of the Article 28 Entities.

21.  Defendant, Hosam Ahmed El-Sherbiny a/k/a Hisham Ahmed El-Sherbiny
Wé Hishmn Ahmed (“Ahmed”), resides in and is a citizenAof the State of New Jersey, and
at all relevant times, was not licensed to pr;ctice the profession of medicine in the State of
New York. Although Pawlowski held the title as ﬁedica] directo'r on paper and was
presehted as such, in ordef to comply with Nevs} York law, Ahme;d was, in reality, the
medical director for the Article 28 Entities and the entire Upﬁ@peration. Ahmed, a
physician not licensed to practice in the State of New YGQaudulently performed the

duties that Pawlowski was required by law to dog\b‘respect to the role of medical

director ) 6
&
Q

22. Defendant, Alan Gold Goldenberg™), resides in and is a citizen of
the State of New York and i rrently, nor has ever been, a licensed medical

professional. Goldenberg‘t@management position at Accurate Medical, P.C., held a

position in the billing¢ ment at Nolia Medical, P.C., and, at all relevant times, was
~ employed by as a Business Manager/Billing Manager within the billing
department. )

. D. PC Defendants

- 23.- At all relevant times, defendants, Accurate Medical, P.C., J.P. Medical,
P.C., Nolia Medical, P.C., and Quality Medical Healthcare Provider, P.C. (the “Pawlowski
PCs”), were New York domestic professional corporations with their principal places of

bﬁsiness in New York State. At all relevant times, the Pawlowski PCs were nominally
10
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owned on paper by Pawlowski. In reaiity, however, the Pawlowski PCs were always
owned and controlled by Elzanaty 'in violation of Article 15 of New York Business

Corporations Law and New York Education Law §6500, ef seq.

24. - At all relevant times, defendant, CAN Medical, P.C. (“CAN”), is/was a
New York domestic professional corporation with its principal place of business in New
York. At alltelevant times, CAN is/was nominally owned on paper by a doctor who, upon

¢

information and belief, was an unwitting pﬁrticipant in the scheme to defraud being
perpetrated by Elzanaty and his co-cohspirators. In reality, however, @s and always
was owned and controlled by Elzanaty, in violation of Article lcpew York Business

*

Corporations Law and New York Education Law §6500, et @

IV. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 66 :

25.  Jurisdiction over this action is @ed upon this Court by 28 U.S.C.
§1332(a)(1) because the matter in contr Qxceeds the sum or value of $75,000.00,
excluswe of interest and costs, and G %tween citizens of different states. Pursuant to
28 U.S.C. §1331, this Court al J\ll’lSdlCtlon over the claims brought under 18 U.S.C.
§1961, et séq. (the Rac t@ uenced and Corrupt Organizations “RICO” Act) because
they arise under the laws/of the United States. Additionally, this Court has supplementa;l
jurisdiction over the state la;av claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1367.

26.  Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. §1391 whereas a substantial amount of the

wrongful acts known to Allstate as alleged herein with particularity were carried out within

the Eastern District bf l\few York.

’

11



Case 2:11-cv-03862-ADS-ARL Document 1 Filed 08/11/11 Page 12 of 50 PagelD #: 12

V.  ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL CLAIMS

A. Brief Overview of New York State No-Fault Laws, Business Corporation Law,
Education Law, Public Health Law, and Other Applicable Statutes

27. Plaintiff underwrites automobile insurance, in the State of New York.

'28.  New York’s No-Fault Laws are designed to ensure that injured victims of
motor vehicle accidents have an efficient mechanism to pay reasonable fees for necessary
healthcare goods and/or s:ervibces.

29.  Under the No-Fault Laws, automo‘bile insurers age required to provide

Personal Injury Protection Benefits (“PIP Benefits”) to their cles s. These PIP Benefits

: include up to $56,000.00 per claimant, for reasona%;cl’enses that are incurred for
necessary healthcare goods and/or services, whi zbe claimant incurs as a patient
receiving said goods and/or services from a h re service provider. A patient/claimant

can assigLﬁ his rights to these PIP h@ directly to.a healthcare service provider.
Pursuant to a duly executed assi g‘e a healthcare service provider may submit claims
directly to an automobile iﬁs@le compé\ny, and receive payment for the services and/or
goods rendered and/o@Q:d. | |
30. g{ to accomplish this transaction wherein the healthcare service
provider seeks payment, ‘the healthcare service provider must utilize a claim form,
specified by the New York State Department of Insurance.’ Although it is officially known

as a “Verification of Treatment by Attending Physician or Other Provider of Health

Service” form, this claim form is commonly referred to as an NF-3.
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~

31.  Pursuant to §403 of the New York State Insurance Law, the NF-3s
submitted by a healthcare service provider to Plaintiff (and to all other insurers) must be
verified by the healthcare service provider, subject to the following waming:

Any person who knowingly and with intént to defraud any
insurance company or other persons files an application for
insurance or statement of claim containing any materially false
information, or conceals for the purposes of misleading, information

concerning any fact material thereto, commits a fraudulent
insurance act, which is a crime.

32. Pursuant to New York’s No-Fault Laws, fraudulently incorporated

professional service corporations are ineligible to receive No-Fault b@s. New York’s

No-Fault Laws provide, in pertinent part, that: ()O
A provider of healthcare services is not elf Yor reimbursement
under Section 5102(a)(1) of the Insur: if the provider fails
to meet any -applicable New Y ate or local licensing
requirement necessary to perfo, h service in New York.
See,11 NYCRR § 65-3.16(3@

33. InNew York only a l%ﬁ}mdical doctor may (i) practice medicine, (i1)

own and control a professional ser@ rporation authorized to provide medical services,

_(iii) employ and supervise 0

sticians, and (iv) derive (.absent statutory exceptions not
applicable in the cas C Defendants) ¢¢onoﬁic benefit from physician services.
34. New Business Corporation Law §1504 provides that no professional
service corporation may render professional services, except through individdals
authorized by law to render such professional services as individuals.

35.  New York Business Corporatjpn Law §1507 prohibits a professional service

corporation from issuing shares to individuals unless they are “authorized by law to -

practice in this state a profession which such corporation is authorized to practice and who

13
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are or have been engaged in the practice of éuéh profession in such corporation...” This
section also prohibits :such shareholder(s) from entering. into any agreement, granfing
proxies, or transferring control to.individuals who are not authorized by law to practice the
profession, for which the professional corporation is authorized to practice.

36.  New York Business Corporation Law §1508 pfohibits an individual from
being a director or officer of a professional service corporation, unless he is authorized by
law to practice in his state a profession, which such corporation is authorized to practicé.

3.7. Pursuant to New York Education Law §6507(4)(c), the New York State
Department of Education is the licensing agency that, upon applicatiob stes a Certificate
of Authority to a qualiﬁed profesgional service corporation oiar%ﬁ under Article 15 of |
the New York Business Corporations Law. ' @ :

38, ~ Pursuant to New York Education Law, @%(7), it is professional miscénduct
wheﬁ a licensee who has been licensed by th@ew York to practice in a profession,
permits, aides or abets an Elnl—icensed pergo rform activities requiring a license.

39.  InNew York State,ﬂ'\@s are allowed to seek affirmative recovery against
individuals and Entities wh 1olated the above statutes and/or regulations. In State
Farm v. Mallela, 4 13 (2005), the New York Court of Appeals upheld 11
N.Y.C.R.R. §65-3.16(a)(12) holding that medical corporations that are fraudulently
inco_rporated under New York Business Corporation in\'av.§§1507 and 1508, and New York
Education Law §6507(4)(c), are not entifled to No-Fault ;'ei_mbursement. In the matter,
Metroscan Imaging, P.C. v. GEICO, 13 Misc.3d 35, it was held that an insurer may -

maintain a cause of action égainst a fraudulently- incorporated medical provider to recover

14
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monies ’pai.d after Aprﬂ 5,2002 - the date when 11 N.Y.C.R.R. §65-3.16(a)(12) became
effective. -

40. Articlé 28 of the New York Public Health Law and its corresponding
regulations, govern the formation and operation of hospitals in New York. Pursuant to
specific statutéry authority granted undervArticle. 28, non-physicians may own,
control, or deﬁve ecénomic benefit frorﬁ the operation of a “hospital” as defined by the
statute. New York Public Health Law §2801(1) defines "hospital," in pertinent part, to
include any facility or institution engaged principally in providing service or under the

~ supervision of a physician fqr the prevention? diagnosis or treatme uman disease,
pain, injury, deformity or physical condition. Based on t&\stg&ory definition, the
Article 28 Entities operated by Elzanaty seemingly qua@% hospitals, for purposes
of Article 28 of the New York Public Health 30

41.  Although the exception disc@bove allows for an unlicensed non-
physician layperson to own, control, r 'erive economic benefit from the operation
of an Article 28 facility, thereg - stringent statutory requirements that must be
saﬁsﬁed, pursuant to Title @ne Compilation of Codes, Rules and Regulations of the i

State of New York. S@ally, 10 N.Y.C.R.R. §751.4 requires that the operator of an

-Article 28 facility appoint a “medical director” who:

iy © Is qualified by training, experience and administrative ability to
assume responsibility for the position;
i) is delegated the authority and is responsible to the operator for the

professional, organizational and administrative aspects of the
adequacy and quality of care provided to patients in the center;

iii) is a physician licenséd to practice medicine by and currently
registered with the New York State Education Department;

15
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1v) develops and recommends to the operator policies and procedures
governing patient care in accordance with generally accepted
standards of*professional practice;

v) develops and recommends to the operator policies and procedures
concerning the appointment of medical and dental staff, the
assignment of their clinical privileges and rteviews of such
appointments; and

Vi) 1s responsible for the supervision of the quality assurance program
and for reporting the activities of the program to the operator.

- 42.  Since an Article 28 facility may be owned and controlled by a non-
physician layperson, the medical director of an Article 28 facility plays a critical role
in ensuring that patient care is not subordinated to the pecu@interests of
unlicensed businessmen. In fact, 10 N.Y.C.R.R. §751.8 st n pertinent part,
that the medical director of an Article 28 facility must %\ﬁse a quality assurance

program that includes a planned and systema@cess for monitoring and

assessing the quality and appropriateness of care and clinical performance on

an ongoing basis. ()
9

43. Establishing an A@d 28 facility entails an administrative review
process, during which the a must get written approval from the Public Health and
Health Planning Co %HPC”) within the New York State Department of Health
(“DOH”). See, Public Health Law §2801-a. Prior to approving a certificate of
incorporation, articles of organization, or application for establishment of an Article 28
facility, the PHHPC must be satisfied as to, among other things, (i) the public need for
the existence of the institution at the time and place and under the circumstances

proposed, as well as (ii) the character, competence, and standing in the community, of the

16
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proposed incorporators, directors, sponsors, stockholders, members or operators. See,

Public Health Law § 2801-a (3).

44, Pursuant to 10 N.Y.C.R.R. §§600.1 and 670.1, in detefmining the
public need for a particular ‘Article 28 facility, the PHHPé must consider a list of
criteria regarding a specific geographic area and the needs of the population in said
geographic area. Once a facility is approved for establishmeni,v however, it still

_ cannot operate without a valid opera;ing ce;tiﬁcate granted pursudnt to New York

Public Health Law §2805. Pursuant to 10 N.Y.C.R.R. §§401.1 and 401.2, said

operating certificates generally are site specific, and limit ance of services to the
location designated in the certificate. \() ,
. *

45. §2811 of the Public Healt%@ specifically - prohibits Article 28
facilities from paying for patient referraig
B. J.P. Medical, P.C.’s Fraud mcorporation and Billihg .

46. Accord.in’g t@: ds on file with the New .York Department of State,
Division of Corporvatioﬂ@lowski is listed as the Chairman and CEO ‘of J.P. Medical,
P.C. (“JP Medical’?@%address ;to which the Department of State was to mail process, as

- well as the ad@of the principal executive office, is stated as 4470 Broadwéy, Suite #4,
New York, New York 10040. Critically, the 4470 Broadway address is one that Elzanaty
utilized in connection with Uptown.” According to various sources including, but not
limited to, documents filed in connection- with Elzanaty’s Certificate of Need application to
the New York State Department of Health, correspondence between Elzanaty and the New
York State Départment of Healfh, in connection with said application, and what appears to

17
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be the official website of Uptown (http://nymedicalcenters.com/), Elzanaty, at all‘relevam

‘ timés, owned Uptown and one of its corporate addresses is stated as 4470 Broadway, Suite
#4, New York, New York 10040.

47. Eizanaty was granted full Power of Attorney (“POA”) with respect to the
bank account activity of JP Medical, in connection with Citibank Account No. #####207.
Elzanaty’s sigﬁature also appears on the signature card for JP Medical, in connection with
the same account. Furthermore, documents obtained from Citibank in connection with this
account indicate that for the 78-month period between January 2004 and August 2010,
there was | a total of approximately $1,770,163.31 in depos@d approximately
$1,83 5,881.62 in withdrawal activity, in the form of checks wire transfers. Of the
total amount deposited to that account during the '@m‘entioned time period, only
$16,000.00 (.9%) was ultimatefy paid to Jadwiga @%ski, M.D., the purported owner of
JP Medical, whereas approximately $875 0% 9.43%) was either paid or transferred to
the accognt(s) of the Elzanaty owne. Q’ntrolled, Uptown. |

48.  To circumvent N rk’s Education Law and Business Corporation Law
and to induce the Depaq@@Education» to issue a certificate of authority authorizing JP
Medicél as a medi ssional service corporation, Elzanaty colluded with Pawlow;ki,
who acted as the “p3fer owner” of JP Medical, to falsely represent that Pawlowski was the
sole sharcholder, director, and officer of JP Medical when, in reality, Elzanaty was the true
owner. The ownership and control of Jp Medical by Elzanaty compromised patient care,
as the provision of health services by JP Medical was, atv all relevant times, subject to the
pecuniary interest of Elzanaty, a non-licensed laypérsori, rather than the exercise of

independent medical judgment by a duly licensed doctor/owner. Since April 5, 2002, JP
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Medical has fraudulently billed Plaintiff and Plaintiff has paid approximétely
$1,283,041.64 in PIP Benefits, which 1t seeks to recover ih this action.
C. Accurate Medical, P.C.’s Fraudulent Incorporation and Billing

l49. According to records on file with the New York Department of State,
Division of Corporations, Pawlowski'is listed as the Chairman and CEO of Accurate
Medical, P.C. (“Accurate”). Furthermore, according to the New York Deparimént of
Edu(;ation, Office of the Professions, the street address of Accurate is stated as 4470
Broadway, Suite #4, New York, NeW York 10040. However, the s to which the
Department of State was to mail process, indicates 930 East TreC)@'\venue, Bronx, New
York 10460. As stated gbove, there is at;mple evidence cé ifg Elzanaty and Uptown to
the 4470 Broadway, Suite #4, New York, New Yor @0 address. Similar documentary
evidence connects Elzanaty and Uptown to&&@ East Tremont Avenue, Bronx, New
York addres-s. One such documentary lin@ two-page Certificate ;)f .Need Applicatioq,
dated November 16, 2000 signsd @ aty as president of Uptown wherein 930 East
Tremont Avenue, Bronx, N@\rk 10460 is stated as the address of the prospective

QY |
Article 28 facility. @

50.  Elzan®y/s signature appears on a signature card fbr Citibank Account No.
HH#H##1635, in connection with Accurate. Elzanafy was also granted full POA in connection
with the account. The bank records indicate the account mailing address for Accurate to be
Accurate Medical, P.C. ¢/o Uptown Health Care Mgm‘;, 4470 Broadway, Suite #4, New
York, New York 1,(')040. - Furthermore, documents obtained from Citibank in connection
with this acéount indicate that for the 78-month beriod between January 2004 and August

2010 there was a total of approximately $6,342,672.87 in deposits and approximately
' 19
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$6,9ﬁ68,860.‘93 in withdrawal activity, in the form of checks and/or.“./ire transfers. Of the
total 'amount deposited to that accouﬁt during the aforementioned time period, only
$75,-587.QO (1.19%) was ultimately paid to Jadwiga Pawlowski, M.D., the purported owner
of Accurate, whereas approximat‘e}y $4,014,100.0d (63.28%) was either paid er transferred
to the account(s) of Elzanaty, who owned and controlled Uptéwn. Additioﬁally,‘ a
combined $233,600.00 (3.68%) was either paid or transferred directly to individual
defendants - Elzanaty, Goldenberg, and Ahmed. |

51.  To circumvent New York’s Education Law and Ii&nesls Corporation Law

and to induce the Department of Education to issue a Certiﬁ@ Authority to Accurate,'

as a medical professional service corporation, Elzan%gﬂuded with Pawlowski, who
acted as the “paper owner” of Accurate, to false&ésent that Pawlowski was the sole
shareholder, director; and officer of Accur %hen. In reality, Elzanaty was the true
owner. The ownership and control of My c®utate by Elzanaty compromised patient care, as
the provision of health service% ccurate was, at all relevant times, subject to the
pecuniary interest of El 2 ¢ a non-licensed layperson, rather than the exercise of
indeﬁendent medical@ment by a duly _licensed. doctor/owner. Since April 5, 2002,
Accurate . has@l ulently billed Plaintiff, and Plaintiff has paid approximately
$1,445,397.73 in PIP_ Benefits, which it seeks to recover in this action.
D. Nolia -Medical, P.C.’s Fraudulent Incorporation and‘Billing
52.  According to records on file with the New York Department of State,
. Division of Corporations, Pawlowski is named as the party to which the Departghent of

State.was to mail process, in connection with Nolia Medical, P.C. (“Nolia”). Furthermore,

according to the New York Department of Education, Office of the Profe’ssioné, the street

-
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address of Nolia is 930 East Tremont Avenue, Fourth Floor, Bronx, New York 10460. As
indicated above, many documents coﬁnect Elzanaty and Uptown to the 930 East Tremont
Avenue address.

53.  To circumvent New. York’s Education Law and Business Corporation Law
and to induce the Department of Education to issue a certi'ﬁcate of authority authorizing
Nolia as a medical professibnal service corporation, Elzanaty colluded with PawloWski, '
who acted as the ;‘paper owner” of Nolia, t.o falsely represent that Pawlowski was the sole
shareholder, direcior, and officer of Nolia when, in reality, ‘E]zanaty was, the true owner.
The ownership and control of Nolia by Elzanaty compromis ient care, ‘as the
pfoVision of health services by Nolia was, at all relevant thﬁs,gabject to the pecuniary
interest of Elzanaty, a non-licensed layperson, rather&he exepcise of independent
medical judgment by a duly licensed doctor/o 606 |

54.  Since its fraudulent inco io® in 2007, Nolia has fraudulently billed
Plaintiff, and Plaintiff has paid appro@ly $6,215.05 in PIP Beénefits, which it seeks to
recover in this action. - ’\

E. Quality M‘edica] @:are Provider, P.C;’s Fraudulent Incorporation and Billing

55. Acco@to records on file with the New ‘York. Department of Education,
Office of the Préfessions, Pawlowski is indicated as the sole officer, director, and/or
shareholder of Quality Medical Healthcare Provider, P.C. (“Quality”).

56.  Substantial documéntation links Elzanaty, Pawlowski, and Uptown via

Citibank Account No. ###281. Such documentation includes, but is not limited to, the

following:
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1) A CitiBusiness Deposit Account Application listing Quality as the
business with an address at 930 East Tremont Avenue, Bronx New
York and Elzanaty as the “Administrator” and Pawlowski as the
“President;”

ii) a CitiBusiness General Deposit Resolution for Single Stockholder
Corporations, signed by both Elzanaty and Pawlowski giving
Elzanaty significant authonzanon with respect to the Quality
account;

ii1) a signature card for Citibank Account No. ####281 for Quality
signed by both Elzanaty and Pawlowski;

1v) a computer printout of the CitiBusiness Account Agreement signed

by both Elzanaty and Pawlowski, indicating Qugity as the business
entity with a mailing address of 930 East T Avenue, Bronx

New York ,10460 and Elzanaty as a “sxgne he account; and

V) a document granting Elzanaty comwggleganon of authority, in
‘connection with the account.

57.  Furthermore, documents obtained @%mbank in connection with this
account indicate that for the 61- month pe \DQ een August 2005 and September 2010,
there was a total of approximately $2 &0 in deposits and approximately the same
amount in withdrawal activity,.in@ orm of checks and/or wire traﬁsfers. Of the total
amount deposited to Q}unt, during the aforementioned time period, oﬁly
$158,958.00 (7.73% »@ultimately paid to Jadwiga Pawlowski, M.D., the purported
owner of Quality, wi¥reas approximately $179,500 (8.95%) was either paid :)r transferred
to the account(s) of the Elzanaty owned and coﬁtrolled Uptown.  Additionally,
approximately $92,000.00 (4.59%) was either paid or transferred to the individual
defendant - Goldenberg. |

. 58.  To circumvent New York’s Education Law and Business Corporation Law

and to induce the Department of Education to issue a certificate of authority authorizing
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Quality as a medical professional service corporation, Elzanaty colluded with Pawlowski,
who acted as the “paber owner” of Quality, to falsely represent that Pawlowski was the
sole shareholder, director, and officer of Quality when, in reality, Elzanaty was the true
owner. The ownership and control of Quality by Elzanaty compromised patient care, as
the provision of health services by Quality was, at all relevant times, subject to the
pecuniary interest of Elzanaty, a non-licensed layperson, rather than the exercise of
independent medical judgment by a duly licensed doctor/owner. Since 2005, Qualit(y has
fraudulently} billed Plaintiff, and Plaintiff has paid approximately $224,179.91 in PIP
Benefits, which it seeks to recover in this action. | O

State Department of Health and the Subseque Aulment of the Pawlowski

F. Charges Brought Against Pawlowski and the Paglo PC; by the New York
PCs E é

59. On or about January 17, 2011, Pa i executed a Consent Agreement &
Order, wherein she agreed not to contest @Nons of misconduct raised against her by
the New York State Department of @gtate Board for Professional Medical Conduct.
The allegations of misconduct vf/’\glawlowski was charged with included, violatihg New
York Education Law §65§® y permitting, aldmg, or abetting an unlicensed person to
perform activities @ ¢ a license with respect to the operation, ownership, and control
of the Pawlowski PCs. The Pawlowski PCs were each charged with violating New York
Education Law §6530(16) by Willﬁllly and/or grossly negligently failing to comply with
substantial provisions of State Law. governing the practice of Medicine, -namely Article 15
of the Business Corporations Law.

60.  Pawlowski was fined for her misconduct and is forever prohibited from

being an officer, director and/or shareholder in a professional service corporation entity or
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7

any other type of physician business entity, other than those wherein s\l.le 1s the sole
physician provider of patient care. She is ﬁmhaf prohibited from rec‘éiving funds from any
third party for the rendering of a physician professional service thét is not related to the
direct provision of patient care. Final}y; she agreed to sever any professional relationship
she had‘ with Uptown and the Article 28 .Entities; a copy of the executed Consent

“17’

Agreement and Order is annexed hereto as Exhibit

61.  Shortly after executing the January \17, 2011 Consent Agreement and Order,
each of the Panowski PCs were annulled pursuant to Annulment Order ]&3 No. #11-
21, Annulment Order BPMC No. #11-22, Annulment Order BPMC@. #11-23, and
Annulment Order BPMC I\Io. #11-24; copies of the annulment egSare annexed hereto
collectively as Exhibit “2”. 6®
G. CAN Medical, P.C.’s Fraudulent Incorpo @d Billing

62. According to records on file wi New York Department of Stéte,
Division of Corporations, the ‘home addre@Dr. Fenar Themistocle, M.D., is stated as
the address to which the Departm : te is to mail process, in connection with CAN
Medical, P.C. (“CAN”). F ore, .according to the New York Department of
Eduéation, Office of the@ssions, Dr. Themistocle is listed as the sole officer, director,
and/or shareholder of CAN. The street address of CAN, howe;'er, is stated as Hisham
Elzanaty, 930 East Tremont Avenue, Fourth Floor, Bronx, New York 10460.

63.  Although the New Y"ork Department of State lists the name and address of
br. Themistocle as the entity to serve process upon, the Certificate of Incorpor'ation
originally ﬁied wit'h the Department of State, listed Hisham Elzanaty at 930 East Tremont

Avenue, 4™ Floor, Bronx, NewYork, 10460, as the entity designated to serve process upon.
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64. On November 15, 2010, Dr. Themistocle provided‘ sworn testimony during
which he testified to the following facts regarding the creation of CAN:

1) In November, 2007, while working part-time as a pain management
doctor for Uptown in a building located at 930 East Tremont
Avenue, Bronx, New York. Dr. Themistocle was approached by
defendant, Ahmed, who advised him that by incorporating a
professional service corporation (“PC”), he could be assigned a
physician’s assistant to handle the more menial tasks thereby
allowing him (Themistocle) to (a) bill for more patients, and (b)
perform a greater number of more complicated procedures;

11) Dr. Themistocle was advised that all of the financial and accounting
matters in connection with the new PC, wo be handled by an
employee working for Uptown in an o the fourth floor
located at 930 East Tremont Avenue, Br w York; .

ii1) in January, 2008, Dr. Themistocl&g?;éd a meeting on the fourth
floor of 930 East Tremont Ave ith defendant, Elzanaty, and a
Citibank employee. During eting, Dr. Themistocle provided
Elzanaty and the Citib. loyee with various identification
as asked to sign paperwork pertaining

documents. Dr. The is%l
to a prospective b%n t for the PC, that was to be incorporated

in Dr. Themistoc e;

iv) in the wee@owing the meeting, Ahmed repeatedly asked Dr.
Themis.to@' he received any documentation in the mail from
Citi%\

V) emistocle eventually received what he referred to as a “bank
and a “key card” at his home address which he immediately
turned over to Ahmed — the paperwork received along with said

items bore the name CAN Medical, P.C.;

vi) in February, 2008, Dr. Themistocle began receiving bank statements
showing deposit activity in connection with an account for an entity
named CAN Medical, P.C. - at that point in time, Dr. Themistocle
had no idea that CAN was his PC or even that patients were being
treated through the PC that was being formed in his name;

vii) - when Dr. Themistocle approached Ahmed with concerns about the

bank activity, Ahmed downplayed the activity and advised him
. (Themistocle) not to worry;
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viil) after Dr. Themistocle’s concerns were ignored and he began
expressing his desire to dissolve CAN and/or leave Uptown,
Elzanaty and Elzanaty’s counsel met with Dr. Themistocle and
advised him not to worry and that everything would be taken care of
by the people at Uptown; and

ix) Dr. Themistocle did not recognize any of the documents pertaining
to the incorporation of CAN, and denied having any role in even
-choosing the name.

65.  Elzanaty duped Dr. Themistocle and used Themistocle’s name in order to
circumvent Article 15 of the New York Business Corporation Law and New York
Education Law §6500, et seq. and to induce the Department of Education igfaissuing a
certificate of authority authorizing CAN to be organized as a medical pr@ nal service
corporation. Elzanaty falsely represented that Dr. Themistocle \%\t}lg)sole shareholder,
director and officer of CAN when, in reality, Elzanaty was owner. As part of the
scheme, Elzanaty, without the consent or permissio **Themistocle, exercised total

dominion and control over all 'aspects of CAN’CJQtionS. At all relevant times, Dr.

Themistocle played no role in the day-to-o%;eration, management, and/or control of

*

CAN. Q\

66.  The ownership Q{rol of CAN by Elzanaty compromised patient care,
as 'the provision of healtices' by. CAN was, at all relevant times, subject to the
pecuniary interest of Elzanaty, | a non-licensed layperson, rather than the exercise of
inaependent medical judgment by a duly licensed doctor/owner. Since November, 2007,
Plaintiff has paid CAN épproximately $11,023.10 for PIP Benefits, which it seeks to
recover in this action. |

H. Elzanaty’s Use of Uptown to Launder the Proceeds Paid to the Pawlowski PCs
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67.. As dis;:usséd throughout this Complaint, the defendan’t:‘s_, at aIl. relevant
times, knew that (1) the Pawlowski PCs were actually owned and controiled by Elzanaty, a
non-licensed laypgrson, in‘violation of Aﬁicle 15 of New York Business Corporation Law
and that (i) the Pawlowski PCs were engaged in illegal ere-splitting; with Elzanaty in
violation of New York Education Law. From at least 2002 through the present, true
ownership and control of the Pawlowski PCs has'restea entirely with Elzanaty, who used
the facade of the Pawlowski PCs to do indiréctly what he was forbidden from doing
directly, namely: (i) Employing physicians and other licensed healthcar rofessionals, (ii)
controlling their pra;:tices, and (ii1) charging for, and defiving omic benefit from, |
their services. »As part of the scheme, the Pawlowski PCQQrgﬁed Elzanaty to exercise
total dominion and control over all aspects of the Paw&c_s’ operations including the
pursuit and collection of the Pawlowski PCs’ outs g and/or unpaid No-Fault accourlts
receivébles. At all relevant times, Pawlo yed no role in the day-to-day operation,
management, and/or control of the P@g!g PCs:. |

68. - Elzanaty created’thﬂ lowski PCs with diffefent names, corporate forms,
addresses, taxpayer identﬂ@g numbers and a nominal physician owner, in order to
reduce the likeliho t@surers would detect that each of the Pawlowski PCs was unde;
uniform ownership and control of a non-licensed layperson. While a majority of the
insurance proceeds were actually deposited into the accounts of the Pawlowski PCs, the
funds were, in large part, transferred to, or for the benefit of Elzanaty. As detailed in
Paragrai)hs 47, 50, and 57 in this Complaint, these tranéfers were facilitated through vthe

use of Uptown, which siphoned the proceeds from the Pawlowski PCs to Elzanaty himself,

E]zanaty-owned entities, or Elzanaty’s cohorts.
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L Uptown as the Epi‘center for Elzana_ty’sAOverall Scheme to Defraud

69. In addition to utilizing Upto-wn to launder the proceeds from th(_e Pawlowski
PCs, as discussed above, in Paragraphs 47, 50, 57 and 68 in this Complaint,”Elzanaiy used
Uptown as the corporate veil from behind which to operate and establish three medical
facilities, pursuant to Ani;le 28 of the New York State Public Health Law - East Tremont

| Medical Center, New York Neuro & Rehab Center, and Jerome Family Health Center (the
“Article 28 Entities”). Due to exceptions in the law regarding layperson ownership of
certain types of medical facilities, Elzanaty was able, as a non-licensed layperson, to own
and operate the Article 28 Entities.

70. In his operatlon management, and/or ¢on f the Article 28 Entities,
.Elzanaty repeatedly, and for a prolonged period ofé@commmed several acts of fraud
and/or violated the pertinent and applicable @s of Article 28 of the Public Health
Law, Title 10 of the Compilatioﬁ of O@\{ules and Regulations of the State of New
York, and other appiicable statu@@ and/or regplations, in the following manner:

i) Patien: \@d systematically circulated between the fraudulently

incd -@ d PC Defendants and the Article 28 Entities, while
8 u@ Mng their common ownership from Plaintiff;

town was used to recruit a doctor to fraudulently incorporate a
medical professmnal corporation which then defrauded Plaintiff;

ili)  Uptown acted as a base of operations from where Elzanaty sent his
employees to medical clinics throughout New York, which were

paid illegal kickbacks in exchange for prov1d1ng patients to treat at
the Article 28 Entities;

iv) Elzanaty operated the Article 28 Entities in violation of New York
Public Health Law, in that the medical director-was not licensed to
practice medicine in the State of New York;
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v) at least one of the Article 28 Entities violated its site-specific
‘operating certificates by sending its employees to facilities
throughout New York to examine and/or treat patients; and

vi) Uptown routinely submitted intentionally inflated billing for
treatment from at least one of the Article 28 Entities, in order to
induce Plaintiff to overpay for medical services.

71.  Additionally, as part of his plan to maximize the billing potential of his
creations, Elzanaty promoted the freqhency of patient care between the Article 28 Entities -

and the fraudulently incorporated PC Defendants in the following mahn_er:

i) Elzanaty utilized the same doctor who he had ired with in
connection with the ownership and fraudulent oration of the
Pawlowski PCs — Jadwiga Pawlowski, qu- as the purported
me\dical director for the Article 28 _Entitié\ . '

ii) there were instances where doctor% believed that they were
treating patients as employees of| , resulted in one of the PC
Defendants submitting bill uraff for said-treatment; ,

iii)  there were instances Qloctors who believed that they were
treating patients € yees of Uptown, resulted in medical
records generated%the official letterhead of one of the PC
Defendants;

ces where employees of Uptown assisted with the

rwork, medical records, and/or other documents for
hose treatment was billed under one of the PC Defendants;

iv)  there w,
flow

V) there were instances where patients that were initially treated at one
of the PC Defendants, were ultimately referred to one of the Article
28 Entities for further medical procedures such as arthroscopic

surgery.
72.  As aresult of these “self-referrals,” Plaintiff received an avalanche of bills

from seemingly unreléted_ sources. In reality, however, Elianaty, as the owner of all of the
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entities, was the puppet master pulling the strings in a complex and sophisticated scheme to
manipulate the New York No-Fault Laws and New York Public Health Law.

73.  Due to the .multi-specialty nature of the Article 28 Entities, Elzanaty
employed several doctors in a variety of fields. As part of }‘ﬁs overall plan to maintain
control of the various facilities he oversaw and in order to effectively utilize said facilities’
ability to bill Plaintiff, Elzanaty strategically housed Uptown’s “headquarters” at 930 East
Tremont Avenue, Bronx, New York, which is the location of the main Article 28 Entity -
East Tremont Medical Center. This provided Elzanaty with convenient access to a
reservoir of medical professionals, who he or one of his minions, \&Q recruit to form
medical professional corporations. . O

74.  Although this practice of internal recruitmeN;%)ars harmless on its face,
it became nefarious when a doctor who was recmi@@form a medical professional
corporation was ultimately excluded from allaspe f patient care, billing, or any other
component of operating and/or managing C dical professional service corporation. In
that instance, a doctor who was w@ for Uptown was mislead into signing various
documents and opening a ’X unt for a medical professional service corporation,
which the doctor thoug%@d act as a legitimate entity. ljnbekhownst to that doctor,
however, Elzanaty@d and ihcorporated the professional service corporation as CAN
Medical, P.C. (“CAN”) and pafients were treated. As set forth above in Paragraphs 62
through 66, CAN fraudulently billed Plaintiff and Plaintiff paid approximately $11,023.10
in PIP Benefits, which it seeks to recover in this action.

75.  In addition to the fraudulent incorporation of the PC Defendants, Uptown

engaged in other schemes to defraud Plaintiff. In May, 2008, a doctor who worked for
30
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Upto% Benvéen October 2006 and April 2008 (for fhe purposes of this Com;ﬂaint and in
order fo protect this doctor’s identity, he/she will be referred to as Dr. Y, and the pronouns |
“he” aqd/or “his” will be used where appropriate) gave ytestimony including, but not limited
to the following:

1) He was hired by defendant, Ahmed, to work for ETMC/Uptown, and -
received paycheckjs with Uptown’s name on them, therefore he
believed that defendant, Elzanaty, owned Uptown;

ii) although Plaintiff was billed for Dr. Y’s treatment of patients under
: the care of the Pawlowski PCs, and Dr. Y was presented with
documentation showing that he allegedly treat, atients for a
Pawlowski PC, Dr. Y denied treating patieg r any of the
Pawlowski PCs - in fact, Dr. Y testified that y met Pawlowski
once at the office Christmas party; 6
*

iii)  although he did receive payment frox@e of the Pawlowski PCs -
Quality Medical Healthcare P% , P.C. - he was under the

impression that. this paychec e PC were both part of the
- Uptown umbrella;

endant, Ahmed, who is not duly licensed
State of New York, reviewing patients’
m with signature stamps;

*
v) he perso \served Ahmed giving orders to various personnel at

ETW he (Ahmed) directed them as to what medical

trea order and/or utilize;

vi) as under. strict orders to keep all patient referrals within the
Uptown umbrella of facilities and/or physicians and he was met with
great displeasure when he attempted to refer patients to outside
facilities;
~ vil)  he was criticized by Ahmed when he could not see enough patients
and was specifically advised that he needed to speed up the way he

was conducting his exams;

viii)  Uptown prioritized treatihg the No-Fault patients to the detriment of
the Medicaid patients; and
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iX) during the course of his employment at Uptown, he came into
contact with an employee of Uptown who explained to him that
defendant, Goldenberg, would negotiate with outside medical
facilities to allow either Uptown or the Pawlowski PCs to plant
physician assistants in these various medical facilities in exchange
for a kickback ranging from $2,000.00 to $4,000.00. -These plants
would then refer the patients from these exterria] facilities back to

either one of the Article 28 Entities or to one of the Pawlowski PCs.
76.  In November 2010 a doctor who worked for Uptown between 2004 and
2008 (for the purposes of this Complaint and in order to protect this doctor’s identity,
he/she will be referred to as Dr. X and the pronouns “he” and/or “his” will be used where
appropriate) gave testimony including, but not limited to the following; @
i) " He saw Pawlowski’s name displayed n‘a@@ at ETMC wherein
she was referenced as the “Medical eator” yet he never saw
Pawlowski in the building located a ast Tremont Avenue - in
fact, Dr. X only met Pawlowski o (% a Christmas party;
it) he saw patients referred fn@east one of the Pawlowski PCs to

ETMC; Q
ii1)  he was left with L%&mpression that patient care at Uptown was

geared to ma’xi% tient volume to the detriment of quality of

care; and ’\

iv) he obs icensed defendant, Ahmed, reviewing patient files.
77. In Sepi 005 a doctor who worked for one of the Pawlowski PCs
between 1998 and 2005 (for the purposes of this Complaint and in order to protect this
doctor;s identity, he/she will be referred to as Dr. Z and the pronouns “he” and/or “his”
will be used where appropriate) gave testimony including, but not limited to, the following:
o 1) he was hired by defendant, Pawlowski, to work for one of the
Pawlowski PCs - Accurate Medical, P.C. - which was located at 930

East Tremont Avenue, Bronx, New York;

ii) he had no idea what, if any, distinction existed between JP .
Medical, P.C. and Accurate Medical, P.C_;
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ili)  he testified that Goldenberg was the office manager employed by
Pawlowsk1 in connection with Accurate Medial, P.C.;

iv) he specifically stated that Goldenberg would fax him (Dr. Z) his
work schedule which would tell Dr. Z where he was being sent to
sec patients;

V) when Accurate’s employees had issues that needed to be resolved,
"~ they were to contact Goldenberg;

vi) over the course of the seven or eight years that he worked for
Accurate Medical, P.C., he rarely met with Pawlowski and never
discussed his work with Pawlowski; and

{, Uoldenberg and
. Z)-had generated
improve his medical

vii) he was once asked to attend a meeting

Elzanaty’s counsel, regarding reports that

and was specifically advised as to hof¥

records by these non-medical profes%a‘ "

78.  As the purported Director of Adminis&for Uptown, Ahmed managed

all aspects of the daily operations for ETMC @%wom testimony at a hearing before
the Bureau of Professional Medical Condi&t ™ 2009, he established that the Article 28

Entities all operate under the umbre@Uptown at three separate locations, as described

above in Paragraph 17 and ility located at 930 East Tremont Avenue became the
main facility in 2004. @Q
79. A Q onfirmed that while Pawlowski was working for Uptown as the

purported “medical director,” she had her own private busihe'sses. Ahmed went on to
identify each of the Pawlowski PCs mentioned throughout this C'omplaint. Ahmed testiﬁed
that he introduced one of the doctor’s employed by Uptown to Pawlowski: in order to help
this doctor obtain additional employment by working for the Pawlowski PCs, while

simultaneously working for Uptown. Ahmed gave detailed testimony of how he facilitated

this doctor’s ability to review reports for patients the doctor was treating on behalf of the
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P.awlowski PCs. Notably, however, this doctor (who is actually Dr. Y) had no idea that he 7
was working for any of the Pawlowski PCs, and was compietely under the impression that
all of his patients were through his employment with Uptown.

80.  According to Ahmed, he acted as a liaison between Dr. Y and Dr. Y’s
_physician assistant (“P.A.”) and knowingly facilitated the movement of medical records for
.patients that were being treated by the Pawlowski PCs to doctors that were working for
Uptown. Although he claimed that it had nothing to do with his responsibilities and/or - '\
duties of his employment for Uptown, Ahmed would shuffle reports betweemthe P.A. and
Dr. Y, in connection with Dr. Y’s treatment of Pawlowski PC patients. O&

81. Furthermore, Ahmed testified that the P.A. woul(f%ng‘ao the office located
at 930 East Tremont Avenue, and use the computer %%nter to download/print
documents perfaining to work the P.A. wa,s doing o@ wlowski PCs. Incredulously,
Ahmed claimed that none of these patients ha %onnection with Uptown and that he
was merely trying to accommodate Dr. Y@ity to work for the outside Pawlowski PCs.

K
Again, Dr. Y never knew he w. %Pawlowskj PC patients. And again, Plaintiff

never knew that Elzanaty was tual owner of the Pawlowski PCs, while being billed

" by them and by the Art

forward paychecks to Dr. Y for Dr. Y’s work at the Pawlowski PCs, even though Ahmed

ntities. Inexplicably, Ahmed testified that he would also

had no employment relationship with the Pawlowski PCs.

82. Ahmed’s actibns with respect to the Pawlowski PCs and CAN Medical,
P.C., clearly illustrates the overlépping relationship and the blurring of the lines between
Uptown, the Article 28 Entities, and the PC Defendants — all of which were, unknown to

Plaintiff, owned by Elzanaty. Just as significant, Ahmed’s actions taken together with the
34 '
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testimony of Dr. X and Dr. Y support Plaintiff’ s> assertion that Ahmed, not Pavrlowshi, rvas
the actual medical director for Uptowh/the Article 28 Entities. According to the testimorly
of both doctors, Pawlowski was rarely, if ever, present at the 930 East Tremont location:
whereas Ahmed was omnipresent. In fact, the only time that either Dr. X or Dr. Y saw or
had any interaction with Pawlowski was at the office Christmas party.

83.  In a separate Federal Complaint filed against Uptown, a third doctor makes
allegations wherein she states, with great specificity, interactions she had \;\Iith Ahmed.
See, Melinda Gilmore, M.D. v. Uptown Health Care Management, Inc. d/b/afRgst Tremont
Medical Center, New York Neuro & Rehab Center and Jerome Famr@ ter, SDN.Y.
Case No. 1:11-cv-00808-RJH; a copy of the Complaint is anne hereto as Exhibit “3”.
Based on the allegations in the Complaint, it is readily ? that Ahmed rather than
Pawlowski was in charge of issues pertaining to e@ eatment, medical procedures,
patient care, and/or patient safety.

84.  Dr. Gilmore, who, upon u%atron and ‘belief, was a gynecologrst that
treated patients at all three of the Az Entities, dealt sjolely with a person she notably
referred to as Dr. Ahmed, re@@ her concerns of improper sterilization and infection
control procedures, witect to the use of certain vaginal ultrasound probes, at the
Article 28 Entities. After several back-and-forth interactions with Dr. Ahmed, who either
ignored or deflected Dr. Gilmore’s concerns, she finally had to make a formal written
complarnt to the New York State Department of Health (“DOH").

85. Accordrng to Dr. Gilmore’s federal lawsuit, shortly followmg her complaint
letter to the DOH the DOH shut down one of the Article 28 Entities, and required Uptown

to implement a proper written protocol of sterilization and disinfectant procedures.
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86. Jadwiga Pawlqwski, M.D.‘, who was supposedly the medical director for the
Articlé 28 Entities, at the relevant times mentioned in the Gilmore Federal Complaint, was
not mentioned once throughout Dr. Gilmore’s Federal Complaint. Rather, Dr. Gilmore
provides details about her ;:ommunications with who Plaintiff in the instant matter alleges
was, at all relevaht times, the actual medical directof - Ahmed.

J. Elzanaty, Uptown, and/or the Article 28 Entity’s Ongoing Violations of Article
28 of Public Health Law and the Regulations Promulgated Thereto

87.  In addition to the numerous poﬁions of Article 28 of the Public Health Law
and Title 10 of the Compilation of Codes, Rules and Regulations e State of New
York discussed above in Paragraphs 40 through 45, the law provi@t@f the established
operator has been guilty of fraud or deceit in procuring app va&x establishing the Article
28 facility or has made statements or furnished infor@% in, support of the application
which were untrue, inaccurate, or incompletg i aterial respect, the Department of
Health may revoke, limit, or annul ité \ of establishment. See, 10 N.Y.C.R.R.
§600.5(a)(1). The DOH may also re% limit, or annpl its approval for establishment, if
the g,stabiished operator has N comply fully with any condition, limitation or other
requirement imposed as , or in conjunction with the approval of establishment. See,
10 N.Y.CR.R. _§a)(10). As stafed, in pertinent part, "m 11 N.Y.CR.R. §65-
3.16(a)(12): )

A provider of healthcare services is not eligible for reimbursement
under section 5102(a)(1) of the Insurance Law if the provider fails
to meet any applicable New York State or local licensing
requirement necessary to perform such service in New York.

88.  Elzanaty’s fraudulent activities, as .discussed throughout this

Complaint, in the operation, management, supervision, and maintenance of the
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Artiéle 28 Ehtities, constitutes violations of the statutes, rules, and regulations
governing and controlling the establishment and/or operation of an Article 28
. facility, specifically:

i) Elzanaty concealed his illegal ownership of at least five
medical professional corporations in establishing and/or
maintaining the Article 28 status of the Article 28 Entities;

i1) Elzanaty was integrally involved with the ongoing fraud
v perpetrated by the PC Defendants, in representations to
Plaintiff in the form of NF-3s, and other documentation -
which induced Plaintiff to pay monies to the PC Defendants
which Plaintiff would not otherwise have paid;

1i1) Elzanaty never had a properly qualified med; ector in
connection with the Article 28 Entities, mad used an
unlicensed person while falsely naming D wlowski — the
same doctor who was involved in hisr%jex fraud scheme,
involving the Pawlowski PCs as d @d herein;

iv) patients were systematically '@ted between the fraudulently
incorporated PC Defend 3& the Article 28 Entities, while

concealing Elzanaty’ n ownership from Plaintiff;

V) Elzanaty used l@ne Article 28 Entities to recruit an
unsuspecting degtasAo fraudulently incorporate a medical

professiona ration — CAN Medical, P.C.;

vi) Elza@’I t Uptown/the Article 28 Entities’ employees to
facfih oughout New York, which were paid illegal
cks in exchange for providing patients to treat at the Article
Entities, and for which Uptown ultimately billed Plaintiff;

vii) ' at least one of the Article 28 Entities violated its site-specific
operating certificate by sending its employees to facilities
throughout New York to examine and/or treat patients; and

viii)  Uptown routinely submitted intentionally inflated bills for

treatment from at least one of the Article 28 Entities, in order to
induce Plaintiff to overpay for medical services.
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89. As a consequence of the ongoing fraud and violations of the
‘mandates pursuant to ‘Article 28 of the Public Healthl Law and the rules
promulgated thereto, Uptown/the Article 28 Entities never had a iegitimate basis ‘to
g bill Plaintiff via New York’s No-Fault statutes and/or forfeited their right to do so.
Since 2001, Uptown, via the Article 28 Entities, has fraudulently billed Plaintiff
and Plaintiff has paid approximately. $2,107,420.11 in PIP Benefits, which it seeks

to recover in this action.

K. The New York State Office of Medicaid Inspector Ge (OMIG) Finding
of Billing Impropriety Involving One of the Article ities

*

90. On or ‘about November 2009, OMIG Q&ed an audit of one of the
Article 28 Entities, operating under the control &ﬁnaty and Uptown - New York
Neuro. The review covered the period from 6 1, 2004 through December 31, 2005,
during which Medicaid had paid Upto ,968.87, representing 501 services. Out of
the 501 overall cases that were b@o edicaid by Uptown during that time period, 100
sample files (or approxima b\ %) representing $83,229. OO in payments were audited.
Of the one- hundred ¢ files reviewed by the OMIG, 90 had at least one error.
OMIG’s specxﬁ@@gs included the following:

In 5% of the cases Uptown completely failed to prov1de OMIG with
the records they requested; and

ii) in 85% of the cases the documentation provided by Uptown did not
support that anesthesia was given or that the medical condition of
the patient warranted that the procedure be performed in an
ambulatory surgery setting for safety reasons.
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-91. Based upon their réaview, OMIG identified $66,134.95 in overpayments in
the 100 sample files and projected overpayment of $331,336.00 for the total group of the
501 cases. Ultimately, OMIG sought repayment of the $331,336.00 amount from Uptown.

92. Such chicanery in its billiﬁg ﬁractices is further evidence of Elzanaty and
Uptown’s fraudulent practices and is/was not limited to overbilling Medicaid. Elzanaty
and Uptown has repeatedly and, with complefe disregard to the. CPT Codes governing
billing pursuant to the No-Fault Laws, overbilled Plaintiff in connection with treatment .

rendered by another of the Article 28 Entities — East Tremont Medic nver.

V1. SPECIFIC ALLEGATIONS OF MAIL F RACKETEERING
ACTIVITY AS TO ELZANATY, PAWLOWS D, GOLDENBERG
AND UPTOWN '

93.  The applicable defendants createdé ed and submitted false medical
documentation anfi intentionally violated U@SOf the United States by devising and
intending to devise schemes to defrau ain money and property by means of false
and fraudulent pretenses in repreS@Ons, and by placing or caﬁsing to be placed, in a
post office and/or autho_rize%gtory for mail matfer, things to be sent and delivered by
the United States P g&'ice, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1341 (mail fraud) for the
purpose of ex’ecuting such fraudulent schemes and attempting to do so.

94, Unless otherwise pled to the contrary, all documen;(s, notes, NF-3 forms,

" health insurance claim forms, medical diagnoses, CPT Codé tally sheets, referrals, letters,
and requests for payment in connection with the insurance claims referenced throughout |
this pleading traveled through the Unifed States Mail.

9s. Every automobile insurance claim detailed within, involved at least one use

of the ,United States Mail, including the mailing of, among other things, the Notice of
390 ’ |
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Claim, initial policies, insurance payments, claims -settlement checks, response(s) to
verification requests, and the return of the cancelled settlement checks to the financial
institutiqn(s) from which the check(s) were drawn, as wéll as the return of settlement check
duplicates to the insurance carrier’s home office for filing. |

96.  The applicable defendants either personally used the mails and United
States Postal Service to further their fraudulent sc};eme by causing the aforementioned
items, including medical bills and records from illegal medical facilities, to be mailed to
Plaintiff and/or counsel,fof claimants, or acted with knowlefige that the use of the mails
and United States Postal Service would follow in the ordinary course of business.

97.  The applicable defendants intentionally misrepresex@xat the medical

facilities mentioned throughout this Complaint were legitim@ organized, maintained

. *
and/or operated in accordance with New York law. @
98.  The applicable defendants knew th. offices, a patient, a claimant, an
insurance carrier, patient’s attorney, other provider or the Plaintiff would use the

matils and United States Postal Serv % nnection with each of the fraudulent claims,
including i 1ssumg payments bas @ fendants’ fraudulent documentation.

99.  Plaintiffe at the applicable defendants’ fraudulent medical billing

scheme generated Q@ of mailings. A table highlighting selected examples of mail

fraud arising from the\efendants’ patient/business files is annexed hereto as Exhibit “4”.

o
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VIL. SPECIFIC ALLEGATIONS OF MONEY LAUNDERING RACKETEERING
ACTIVITY AS TO ELZANATY, PAWLOWSKI, GOLDENBERG, AHMED,
AND UPTOWN

100. At all relevant times, the applicable deféndants violated 18 U.S.C. §1956
(laundering of monetary instruments) by laundering the No-Fault proceeds collected by the
fraﬁdulently incorporated PC Defendants. |

101.  The applicable defendants conducted a nuﬁber of transactions involving the
No-Fault proceeds colleqted by the PC Defendants.

102. Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §i956(a)(1), the laundering of monetary instrpments

is defined, in pertinent part, as follows: @

Whoever, knowing that the property involve(iy a financial transaction
represents the proceeds of some form of Walawful activity, conducts or
attempts to conduct such a financial tran{g€tjon which in fact involves the
proceeds of specified unlawful acti with the intent to promote the
carrying on of specified unlawful ity knowing that the transaction is
designed in whole or in part t o@a or disguise the nature, the location,
the source, the ownershi control of the proceeds of specified
unlawful activity. Q

O

103. As discussed abovz agraphs 47, 50 and 57 in this Complaint, an
.

unusually large percentage @\No—Fault proceeds generated and collected by three of
the four Pawlowski PC& diverted to bank accounts controlled by Uptown, while an
unusually small @jtage was uliimately paid to the purported owner — Jadwiga
Pawlowski, M.D.

104. At all relevant times, the applicable defen;iants intentionally engaged in,
and benefited from, the money laundering activity déscribéd herein.

105. The applicable defendants intentionally co_riducted such transactions

knowing that the transactions were designed to (1) promote their medical billing and fraud
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scheme and (ii) conceal and/or disguise .the nature, source, ownership, and/or control of the
‘proceeds of their medical billing and mail fraud scheme.
106. In doing so, the applicable defendants committed numerous violations of 18

U.S.C. §1956, in furtherance of the instant medical billing scheme.

VIII. PLAINTIFF’S JUSTIFIABLE RELIANCE

107. Through the submission of medical records and forms, including NF-3
forms, Elzanaty, Pawlowski, and the Pawlowski PCs certified and represented that each
one of the Pawlowski PCs was organized and operated in comp@ with New Ydrk
Business Corporations Law and New York Education Law. ()O

108. Through the submission of medical recor@bu;?uding NF-3 forms, Elzanaty
and CAN Medical, P.C. certified and represented AN Medical, P.C. was organized
and operated in compliance with New Yor@ess Corporations’Law and New York
Education Law. - ()Q

109. Asa licensed mf:d@ fessional,vPaw]owski was obligated — both legally
(and ethically — to.act with , integrity, and in accordance with her professional oath
and pledge. Elzanat@@lowski, and the Pawlowski PCs actively concealed facts
regarding the Pa@:skj PCs’ ownership to prevent discovery that they were (i)
unlawfully incorporated, owned, and controlled by a non-licensed layperson, (ii) engaged
in illeggl fee-splitting with a non-licensed layperson, and therefore ineligible to pursue or
collect No-Fault benefits.

110. Elzanéty, Pawlowski, and the Pawlowski PCs misrepresented Pawlowski’s

ownership and contrql over the Pawlowski PCs, in filings with the New York State‘
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Departme;lt of Education as well as the New York Department of State, Division of
Cofporations. Elzanaty misrepresented Dr. Themistocle’s ownership and control of CAN
in filings with the New York State Department of Education, as well as the New York
Department of State, Division of Corporations. |

111. In each bill that Elzanaty, Pawlowski, the Pawlowski PCs, and/or CAN
Medical P.C. submitted, or caused to be sﬁbmitted, said entities uniformly misrepresented
that the PC Defendants were properly incorporated, lanully licensed, and eligible to bill
for and collect No-Fault benefits. Each claim submitted to Plaintiff bythe PC Defendants
was verified pursuant to Insurance Law §403. O&& ‘

112. At the time the Pawlowski PCs submitt&ega\t invoices for payment,
Plaintiff reasonably believed that the actions of &'ski and the Pawlowski PCs
conformed with applicable laws, and that e§W ound by his or her avowed ethical
obligations. \Q

113. At the time CAN@mtted patient invoices for payment, Plaintiff
reasonably believed that Dr, ’&ocle knowingly and voluntarily held out his name as
the owner of CAN Medi .C. and Plaintiff had no feason to believe, nor any way of
knowing that, in r. Themistocle was used in name only, by the perpetrators of the
scheme to defraud. ‘

114.  In order to induce Plaintiff to promptly pay the fraudulently_ incorporated
PC Defendants’ patient invoices, Elzanaty; Pawlowski, thq Pawlowski PCs, and/or CAN
Medical, P.C. submitted, or caused to be submitted to Plaintiff NF-3 forms which
represenied that the PC Defendants were owned and operated by licensed medical

professionals in compliance with New York law.
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115. Thrdugh the submission of medical records and forms, including NF-3
forms, Elzan;aty individually, and through Uptéwn, represented that the Article 28 Entities
were in compliance with all pertinent statuteé, rules, fcmd‘regulations necessary for the
ongoing operation of an Article 28 facility.

116.  As the owner and operator of an Article 28 facility, Elzanaty was obligated
- bot}; legally[ and ethically — to act with honesty, integrity, and in accordance with his
representations in the Certificate of Need Application, and in compliance with all of the
pertinent provisions of Article 28 of the New York Public Health W, .Tit]e 10 of the

Compilation of Codes, Rules and Regulations of the Stat ew York, and all

*

117.  Elzanaty, individually and through Up&

1) Was in constant violation & stringent regulations set forth in
: Article 28 of the New ublic Health Law and Title 10 of the

Compilation of Co les and Regulations of the State of New
York, and any %n ther applicable statues, rules, and/or

applicable statues, rules, and régp]ations of the State of Nx&

regulations g g Article 28 Entities;

(i) was in m a highly developed and sophisticated kickback
sche medical facilities throughout New York;

(i) r at least one other doctor whose name was used to
ulently incorporate a medical professional corporation; and
(intilized Uptown and the Article 28 Entities to maximize his ability
to fraudulently bill Plaintiff via the PC Defendants; and

v) utilized Uptown to siphon millions of dollars of the proceeds from
the Pawlowski PCs for his financial benefit, 1n violation of New
York State law. :

118.  Plaintiff is required, under strict statutory and contractual obligations, to

promptly and fairly process claims within thirty days.
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119. The facially valid documents -submitted to Plaintiff, in support of the
charges ét issue, combined with the materiai misrepresentations described herein were
desigﬁed to, and did induce Plaintiff to rely on the accuracy of such docuinent_s.

120. In reliance on the defendants’ misrepresentations, Plaintiff paid monies to
these illegally organized and/or illegally. maintained and/or operated entities to its
detriment — monies that Plaintiff otherwise would not have paid if the PC Defendants
and/or Uptown had provided true and accurate information.

121.  Based upon the defendants’ affirmative acts, as outlined in this Complaint,
Plaintiff did not discover, nor could have reasonably disceyded, that its damages were

.

attributable to the defendants’ fraud until shortly be%@d this Complaint.

IX. FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT @

122. The defendants’ fraudulen @me went undetected until Allstate had
sustained substantial ﬁnancial injun& nature of defendants’ fraudulent scheme was
self-concealing by its very ¥ that the defendants’ were providing Allstate with
seemingly legitimate docﬁ@lﬁon'to support Allstate’s payment of the submitted bills.

123. The\@gants intentionally concealed the fraudulent medical billihg

scheme fron\Q@. ' ' '
124. e defendants acted with intent to conceal their misconduct associated

with the medical billing fraud scheme.

125.  The defendants’ ability to conceal the fraudulent scheme was signiﬁcantly
er.lhanced. by the position of trust that those in thé medical community, épeciﬁcally
physicians and Articlé 28 facilities, are generally accorded in the transaction of insuranc'é

medical claims.
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126. Allstate relied, to its detriment, upon other things, thé presumption of
honesty accorcied defendants’ medical documentation.(

127. Despite its»_due diligence, Allstate was unable to discover the full extent of
the defendants’ fraud scheme until late 2010/early 2011.

128.  Allstate’s investigation is ongoing and new facts conéeming thé defendants’

scheme co.ntinue to be revealed.
X. DAMAGES

129. The defendant’s patterﬂ of fraudulent conduct inj'ured tiff in its
business and property by reasoﬁ of the aforementioned violatio @tate and federal laws.
Although it 1s not necessary for Plaintiff to calculate dam with specificity, at this stage
in the litigation (whereas Plaintiff’s damages c @.\e to accrue), Plaintiffs injury

includes, but is not limited to, compensatory @s for:

)] Payments in & with first-party claims of approximately

$5,077,277.547= exact amount to be determined at trial. The
tables anne eto as Exhibits “5”-“10”, and incorporated herein
as if set 1@ in their entirety, identify Plaintiff’s payments to
defe in connection with first-party claims determined to be
fr as of the filings of the Complaint. Exhibit “5” identifies
s made to JP Medical. Exhibit “6” identifies payments made
curate. Exhibit “7” identifies payments made to Nolia. Exhibit
8” identifies payments made to Quality. Exhibit “9” identifies
payments made to CAN. Exhibit “10” identifies payments made to
Uptown/the Article 28 Entities; and

(i) - expenses incurred to review, adjust, investigate, litigate and pay the
false and fraudulent claims created by the defendants and which
supported defendants’ operation of enterprises through a pattern of
illegal activity.”
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“—

XI. CAUSES OF ACTION

COUNT1
Violatioms-ef 18 U.S.C. §1962(c)
(against Hisham Elzanaty, Jadwiga Pawlowski, M.D., Alan Goldenberg, and Uptown
Health Care Management, Inc.)

130. Allstate re-alleges, re-pleads and incorporates by reference all paragraphs
set forth above, as if fully set forth herein.

131. In connection with each of the claims identified in Plaintiff’s Complaint,
E]zanaty, Pawlowskl Goldenberg, and Uptown- (collectively the “Count I Defendants™)
intentionally caused to be prepared and mailed false medical documentatlo6®nnecnon
with Allstate insurance claims in furtherance of their scheme to defj aud()

_ 132. At all relevant times, J.P. Medical, P.C. consti L@an‘enterprise, as that
term is defined in 18 U.S.C. §1961(4), which engag 6 d the activities of which
affected, interstate commerce.

133.  The Count 1 Defendants a vnth the -foregoing enterprise and
participated, both directly and indirectly'\@ conduct of this enterprise through a pattern
of racketeering activities. QQ

134, The Count I ts employed one or more mailings to demand and/or"
receive payment on certain dales, including, but not limited to, thnsé dates identified in the
chart as Exhibit “4”.

135. Arnong other fhings, NF-3 forms, medical billing invoices, medical reports,
applications for insurance, and premium checks, were routinely deliv'ered to Allstate

through the United States Mail.
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136. Policies of insurance were deli§ered to insureds through the United States
Mail.

137. | Medical reports and invoices were delivered to Allstate through the United
States Mail. Payments to defendants tra\;eled via the United States Mail.

138.  As documented above, the Count I Defendants repeatedly and intentionally
submitted NF-3 forms and other medical documentation to Allstate for mediéal expenses
and/or services that were purpohedly performed by J.P. Medical, P.C., to collect payment |
from Allstate ;mder the Personal Injgry Protection benefits portion of the Allstate policies,
and applicable New York No-Fault Laws. O&

139. As a result of, and in reasonable reliance upqgo!e misleading documents
and misrepresentations, Allstate, by its agents and&foyees, issued checks to J.P.
Medical, P.C., for the benefit of the Count I lﬁams, that would not otherwise have
been paid. v Q\

140. The Count I Defen ‘ (%attém of fraudulent claims, each appearing
legitimate on their face, also p ’0@6 Allstate from discovering the fraudulent scheme for

.

a long period of time, thu@a

141. Th forth above constitute indictable offenses pursuant to 18 U.S.C.

ng them to continue without being detected.

§1341 (mail fraud).

142.  In connection with each of the claims identified in Plaintiff’s Complaint, the
Count I Defendants inten{ionally conductéd or attempted to conduct financial transactions,
knowing that the property involved in said financial transactions represented the proceeds

of some form of unlawful activity, knowing that the transactions were designed in whole or
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in part to conceal or disguise the nature, location; source, ownership, or control of the '
proceeds of the unlawful activity.

143. Thé acts set forth above constitute indictable offeénses pursuaht to 18 U.S.C.
§1956 (money laundering).

144. By filing numerous fraudulent claims in an ongoing scheme, the Count I
Defendants engaged in a pattern of racketeering activity within the meaning of 18 US.C.
§1962(c). |

145. By depositing multiple checks issued by Plaintiff intgq a bank account
controlled by Uptown/Elzanaty in an ongoing scheme to conc origin and final
;lestinati.on of said monies, the Count I Defendants engag&i&paﬁerm of racketeering
activity within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. §1962(c). 6®

146. The activities alleged in this case }6 direct effect of causing funds to be
transferred from Allstate to J.P. Medical, PBQJ e benefit of the Count I Defendants.

147.  Alistate (and all plai@ individually) are in the business éf writing

o .
insurance and paying claims @g&e of New York. Insurance fraud schemes practiced

here and elsewhere have a@e
adversely affect intes.

148. Allstate is a “person” as defined by 18 U.S.C. §1961(3), injured in its

ious impact on Allstate’s overall financial well-being and

business or property by reason of the Count I Defendants’ condpct.

149. The Count I Deféndants’ conduct in yiqlation of 18 U.S.C. §1962(c) was the
direct and proximate cause of Allstate’s injury.

150. By virtue of tﬁe Count I Defendants’ violations of 18 U.S.C. §1962(c),

Allstate is entitled to recover from them three (3) times the damages sustained by reason of
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the claims submitted by them, and others acting in cohcert with them,. together with the
costs of ;uit, including reasonable attorney’s fee's:;;-;l -
COUNT I
Vielations of 18 U.S.C. §1962(c)
(against Hisham Elzanaty, Jadwiga Pawlowski, M.D., Alan Goldenberg, and Uptown
Health Care Management, Inc.)

151. Allstate re-alleges, re-pleads and incorporates by reference all paragraphs
set forth above las if fully set forth herein.

152. In connection with each of the clairﬁs identified A Plajntiffs Complaint,
Elzanaty, Pawlowski, Goldenberg, and Uptown (collectiv@&ount II Defendants™).
intentionally caused to be prepared and mailed false w&documentation, in connection
with Allstate insurance claims in furtherance of &heme to defraud.

153. At all relevant times, A c@%edical, P.C. constituted an enterprise, as
that term is defined in 18 U.S.C. § @), which engaged in, and the activities of which
affected interstate commerce. 6

154. The Cqu ’&efendams ‘associated with the foregoing enterprise z;nci
participated, both di and indirectly, in ther conduct of this enterprise through a pattern
of racketeeri@ivnties.

155. The Count II Defendants employed one or more mailings to demand and/or
receive payment on certain dates, including, but not limited to, those dates identified in the
chart as Exhibit “4”.

156. Among other things, NF-3 fonné, medical billing invoices, medical reports,
applications for insurance, and premium checks were routiﬁely delivered to Allstate

-

through the United States Mail. -
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